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DECISION


PBM Pharmacy, Inc., (PBM) is subject to discipline for knowingly dispensing drugs on an invalid prescription.  

Procedure


The Missouri Board of Pharmacy (Board) filed a complaint on December 23, 2002, and an amended complaint on May 2, 2003.  On August 19, 2003, we convened a hearing on the amended complaint.  Assistant Attorney General Sreenivasa Rao Dandamudi represented the Board.  Michael E. Kearney with Santoro, Driggs, Walch, Kearney, Johnson & Thompson, and Keith A. Wenzel with Hendren and Andrae, LLC, represented PBM.  The Board filed the last written argument on January 20, 2004, through Assistant Attorney General Daniel N. McPherson.  

Findings of Fact

1. PBM did business as Prescriptions By Mail at 6235 Industrial Road, Las Vegas, Nevada, 89118, under an out-of-state-pharmacy license, No. 2000171993.  

2. On February 11, 2002, the Board’s inspector, using the assumed name of William Brown (“Brown”),
 went to an interactive website at www.ultrameds.com (the Website).  From the Website’s proffered selection of drugs, Brown chose Zyban and chose “smoking cessation” from the Website’s proffered reasons for requesting Zyban.  The Website had a questionnaire for customers seeking Zyban, but the questionnaire did not adequately screen out customers who should not take Zyban.  Brown paid for the Zyban by credit card.  

3. Zyban is a trade name for Bupropion.  It is a “legend drug,” meaning that a pharmacy must have a prescription to dispense it.  The Website procured a Zyban prescription (the prescription) for Brown from Dr. Miguel Argueta, who lives in Florida.  The Website transmitted, or had Argueta transmit, the prescription to PBM.  PBM did not retain the prescription.  

4. A physician should not prescribe medication for a person with whom he does not have a physician-patient relationship.  That relationship always includes a face-to-face examination with a measurement of vital signs (examination).  Once that has occurred, another physician may occasionally prescribe medication for a patient based on a review of records from the examination, especially in emergency situations.  Brown never had an examination or any other contact with Argueta.  

5. In February 2002, PBM dispensed 649 prescriptions from Argueta, the Florida doctor.  The ordinary degree of pharmacy skill and learning requires that when a pharmacy 

receives a prescription under such circumstances, the pharmacy must ascertain whether the prescriber has a physician-patient relationship with the recipient before dispensing the medication.  A telephone call can satisfy that duty.  PBM did not make that telephone call in the case of the Zyban prescription, or otherwise investigate whether a physician-patient relationship existed, because it knew that the prescription was invalid.  PBM dispensed the Zyban and shipped it to Brown at his home in Missouri as requested.

Evidentiary Rulings


At the hearing and in written argument, PBM objected to opinion testimony from two of the Board’s witnesses.  Although we overruled PBM’s objection at the hearing, we address it here as it was raised again in PBM’s brief.


The two Board witnesses testified that they knew from their education or experience, or both, the degree of skill and learning that their respective professions ordinarily use under circumstances similar to this case.  Dr. Carr, a physician, testified that it falls below the standard of care for a physician to prescribe a medication such as Zyban to a person with whom he has no physician-patient relationship.  Dr. Burke, a pharmacist, testified that the circumstances under which PBM received the prescription should have put it on notice that no physician-patient relationship existed between Brown and Dr. Argueta.  Therefore, it fell below the standard of care for PBM to fill the prescription without making further inquiry as to its legitimacy.  PBM raised a number of objections to the qualifications of the Board’s experts:  that neither Dr. Carr nor Dr. Burke was familiar with “nationwide” standards for prescribing, or telemedicine; and that Dr. Burke, whose practice was confined to clinical settings such as hospitals, was not qualified to testify about practices for retail pharmacies.


We determine the admissibility of expert testimony under § 490.065,
 which provides:


1.  In any civil action, if scientific, technical or other specialized knowledge will assist the trier of fact to understand the evidence or to determine a fact in issue, a witness qualified as an expert by knowledge, skill, experience, training, or education may testify thereto in the form of an opinion or otherwise. 

*   *   *


3.  The facts or data in a particular case upon which an expert bases an opinion or inference may be those perceived by or made known to him at or before the hearing and must be of a type reasonably relied upon by experts in the field in forming opinions or inferences upon the subject and must be otherwise reasonably reliable. 

The relevant “field” of expertise under that statute was also at issue in State Bd. of Registration for Healing Arts v. McDonagh, 2003 WL 22999293 (Dec. 23, 2003).  The court held:

The relevant field must be determined not by the approach a particular doctor chooses to take, but by the standards in the field in which the doctor has chosen to practice.  As relevant here, Dr. McDonagh chose to treat patients with vascular disease.  The Board’s claim is that Dr. McDonagh engaged in repeated negligence or misrepresentation and was otherwise in violation of the relevant statutes in his provision of chelation therapy for these patients.  Therefore, the relevant field is doctors treating persons with vascular disease.  The facts or data on which Dr. McDonagh’s experts rely, therefore, must be those perceived by them at trial or must be of a type reasonably relied on by doctors treating vascular disease.


By analogy, the field of expertise relevant to this case is the practice of pharmacy in Missouri.  Because the license at issue is a Missouri license, we apply Missouri law, and our task is to determine whether PBM as a Missouri licensee fell below Missouri standards of care.  Just as the court in McDonagh rejected the licensee’s attempt to narrow the field of expertise from “physicians who treat vascular disease” to “physicians who treat vascular disease with chelation 

therapy,” we reject PBM’s attempt in this case to narrow the field of expertise from “Missouri- licensed pharmacies” to “Missouri-licensed pharmacies with a nationwide, internet-based business,” particularly when it offered no evidence as to what the standard of care for the latter in filling a prescription would be.  We admit the testimony of Carr and Burke, and our findings of fact reflect the weight we give to that testimony.


With its written argument, PBM included allegations of fact and attachments not admitted into the record as evidence.  We must base our decision only on evidence in the record.  State ex rel. National Lead Co. v. Smith, 134 S.W.2d 1061, 1068-69 (Mo. App., St.L. 1939).  Therefore, we strike those exhibits.  See also Missouri Supreme Court Rule 4-3.7.

Conclusions of Law


We have jurisdiction to hear the Board’s complaint.  Section § 338.055.2.  PBM raises defenses based on provisions of the United States Constitution relating to due process and interstate commerce.  While PBM is required to raise those defenses in order to preserve them, we have no power to decide them.  Williams Cos. v. Director of Revenue, 799 S.W.2d 602, 604 (Mo. banc 1990).  


The Board has the burden to prove facts for which the law allows discipline.  Missouri Real Estate Comm'n v. Berger, 764 S.W.2d 706, 711 (Mo. App., E.D. 1989).  The party with the burden of proof must prove the facts essential to his legal theory by a preponderance of the credible evidence.  Lampe v. Franklin American Trust Co., 96 S.W.2d 710 (Mo. 1936).  The party may meet his burden by substantial evidence of probative value or by inferences reasonably drawn from the evidence.  Farnham v. Boone, 431 S.W.2d 154 (Mo. 1968).  


The Board argues that PBM is subject to discipline for its practices related to dispensing and keeping a record of the prescription.  Because PBM could only have acted through its agents, 

including its pharmacists, we conclude that PBM is liable for any breach of duty committed in its name.  Fowler v. Park Corp., 673 S.W.2d 749 (Mo. banc 1984).

Count I – Dispensing 


The Board cites PBM’s failure to investigate the prescription for a bona fide physician-patient relationship and federal laws against misbranding drugs.  The parties dispute whether PBM is subject to discipline if it “should have known” that the prescription was written without a bona fide physician-patient relationship.  We need not decide that issue because we conclude, based on all the evidence, that PBM knew that the prescription was invalid.  


Foremost among those circumstances is PBM’s receipt of 649 prescriptions from Argueta in February 2002.  If PBM received Argueta’s prescriptions seven days a week, it received an average of 23 per day.  We require no expert testimony to understand that such prescriptions are inherently suspect for lack of a physician-patient relationship.  Missouri Bd. of Nursing Home Adm'rs v. Stephens, 106 S.W.3d 524, 529 (Mo. App., W.D. 2003).  In addition, a Florida prescription is valid in Missouri only if it does not violate § 334.010.1,
 which provides:

It shall be unlawful for any person not now a registered physician within the meaning of the law . . . to engage in the practice of medicine across state lines . . . except as herein provided. 

Subsection 2 of that statute defines the “practice of medicine across state lines” to include: 

treatment of a patient within this state by a physician located outside this state as a result of transmission of individual patient data by electronic or other means from within this state to such physician or physician’s agent[.]

Altogether, the circumstances indicate collusion between PBM and the Website to dispense prescriptions – Brown’s in particular – knowing of their invalidity.  


PBM presented no evidence to refute that indication.  Indeed, nothing in the record, including the receipt, shows that Argueta is licensed anywhere – including Nevada, Missouri or Florida – to administer any legend drugs.  In these circumstances, PBM’s assertions of plausible deniability are unavailing.  

a.  Duty to Investigate


The Board cites § 338.055.2(5), which allows discipline for:

Incompetency, misconduct, gross negligence. . . .
 

Misconduct is “the willful doing of an act with a wrongful intention[;] intentional wrongdoing.”  Missouri Bd. for Arch'ts, Prof'l Eng'rs & Land Surv'rs v. Duncan, No. AR-84-0239 Mo. Admin. Hearing Comm'n Nov. 15, 1985) at 125, aff'd, 744 S.W.2d 524 (Mo. App., E.D. 1988). Gross negligence is a deviation from professional standards so egregious that it demonstrates a conscious indifference to a professional duty.  Duncan v. Missouri Bd. for Arch'ts, Prof'l Eng'rs & Land Surv'rs, 744 S.W.2d 524, 533 (Mo. App., E.D. 1988).  Incompetence is a general lack of, or a lack of disposition to use, a professional ability.  Forbes v. Missouri Real Estate Comm'n, 798 S.W.2d 227, 230 (Mo. App., W.D. 1990).    


PBM argues that it had no professional duty beyond correctly filling a prescription, citing Kampe v. Howard Stark Professional Pharmacy, 841 S.W.2d 223, 226 (Mo. App., W.D. 1992).  Both parties cite Horner v. Spalitto, 1 S.W.3d 519, 522 (Mo. App., W.D. 1999), in which the Missouri Court of Appeals reversed Kampe, stating:

Kampe wrongly held that, as a matter of law, a pharmacist’s duty will never extend beyond accurately filling a prescription.  This may be a pharmacist’s only duty in particular cases, but in other 

cases, a pharmacist’s education and expertise will require that he or she do more to help protect their patrons from risks which pharmacists can reasonably foresee.  We must leave to a fact-finder what this duty requires of a pharmacist in a particular case. We can say at this point only that a pharmacist, as is the case with every other professional, must exercise the care and prudence which a reasonably careful and prudent pharmacist would exercise.  

To hold as Kampe did would denigrate the expertise which a pharmacist’s education provides concerning drugs and their therapeutic use.  The Kampe holding also failed to comprehend the role a pharmacist must play in making the valuable, but highly dangerous, service of drug therapy as safe and reliable as it can be.

1 S.W.3d at 522.  That language plainly contradicts PBM’s argument.  


The Board showed that PBM’s duty of care and prudence on receiving the prescription was at least to make a telephone call verifying that a physician-patient relationship existed between Argueta and Brown.  PBM violated that duty.  The nature of PBM’s scheme shows that its violation was intentional and shows a general lack of disposition to exercise its professional duty of care and prudence.  We conclude that PBM’s failure to investigate the prescription is cause for discipline under § 338.055.2(5) as misconduct and incompetence.  Because intent is mutually exclusive with the indifference required for gross negligence, PBM is not subject to discipline for gross negligence.  

b.  Misbranding


The Board cites § 338.050.2(15), which allows discipline for:  

Violation of the drug laws or rules and regulations of this state, any other state or the federal government[.] 

The Board argues that PBM violated the standard set by 21 USC § 331, which provides:

The following acts and the causing thereof are prohibited:

*   *   *

(b) The adulteration or misbranding of any food, drug, device, or cosmetic in interstate commerce.

(Emphasis added.)  The Board cites the definition of misbranding at 21 USC § 353(b) (1), which states:

A drug intended for use by man which—

(A) . . . is not safe for use except under the supervision of a practitioner licensed by law to administer such drug[;] 

*   *   *

shall be dispensed only (i) upon a written prescription of a practitioner licensed by law to administer such drug . . . . The act of dispensing a drug contrary to the provisions of this paragraph shall be deemed to be an act which results in the drug being misbranded while held for sale.

(Emphasis added.)  In short, misbranding includes dispensing without a “prescription.”  


PBM argues that we have no power to find cause for discipline under § 338.055.2(15) for violating 21 USC § 331 because federal criminal procedure, including proof beyond a reasonable doubt, is necessary before we can decide that PBM has violated the federal statute.  We disagree.  This administrative action could proceed even if PBM had been acquitted in a criminal action on the same facts.  Younge v. State Bd. of Regis’n for the Healing Arts, 451 S.W.2d 346, 349 (Mo. 1969).  Many licensing laws allow discipline for conduct described by reference to criminal statutes rather than by setting forth such conduct at length, and the standard of proof in such cases is a preponderance of the evidence.   

To prove a breach of section 335.066.2(14), the Board was compelled to prove that Ms. Berry knowingly and intentionally possessed marijuana or cocaine, controlled substances, the elements of section 195.202, not to the standard required for conviction in a criminal prosecution but to the standard of a civil matter, “preponderance of the evidence.”  See In re Hill, 8 S.W.3d 578, 581 (Mo. banc 2000).  “Preponderance of the evidence” is defined as that degree of evidence that “is of greater weight or more convincing than the evidence which is offered in opposition to it; that is, evidence which as a whole shows the fact to be proved 

to be more probable than not.”  Vaught v. Vaughts, Inc./Southern Missouri Constr., 938 S.W.2d 931, 941 (Mo.App.S.D.1997).

State Bd. of Nursing v. Berry, 32 S.W.3d 638, 642 (Mo. App., W.D. 2000).  PBM offers no authority preventing the General Assembly from referring to federal statutes as it does to statutes of this state and of other states.


PBM argues that it did not commit misbranding because it complied with the plain language of 21 USC § 353(b).  Although PBM no longer possesses the prescription in written form, the record includes a receipt stating that Argueta prescribed Zyban for Brown, which implies that the Website procured the prescription from Argueta and that PBM received it.  PBM argues that by dispensing the Zyban to Brown under the prescription, it did all that 21 USC § 353(b) requires.  PBM argues that the plain language of 21 USC §§ 331 and 353(b) contain no mandate to investigate the validity of a prescription.  


We agree that failing to investigate is conduct that does not per se violate 21 USC §§ 331 and 353(b).  However, such failure does not shield PBM from conduct that does violate those statutes.  Federal statutes 21 USC §§ 331 and 353(b) forbid dispensing drugs without a “prescription,” and the circumstances of this case do not satisfy that requirement.  A prescription under 21 USC §§ 331 and 353(b) means a bona fide order for medication, not an order issued for a person whom the prescriber has never met.  U.S. v. Nazir, 211 F. Supp.2d 1372 (S.D. Fla. 2002).  In that case, the defendants were charged with dispensing prescriptions written without a physical examination.  The court held that a “prescription” for purposes of 21 USC § 353(b)(1): 

means only a bona fide order—i.e., directions for the preparation and administration of a medicine, remedy, or drug for a real patient who actually needs it after some sort of examination or consultation by a licensed doctor—and does not include pieces of paper by which physicians are directing the issuance of a medicine, remedy, or drug to patients who do not need it, persons they have never met, or individuals who do not exist.  

*   *   *

[T]he issuance of phony “prescriptions” without any medical need or examination, for the purpose of getting drugs into interstate commerce where they can be sold to unsuspecting consumers, constitutes misbranding under § 353(b)(1)[.]

Id. at 1375.  That discussion applies to this case.  There was no need, no examination, no consultation, and no patient; hence, there was no prescription under 21 USC § 353(b)(1).  

We do not hold pharmacies strictly liable for every fraudulent prescription they innocently dispense, nor do we need to define the circumstances that require a pharmacy to verify the validity of a prescription, because neither case is before us.  PBM violated 21 USC 

§§ 331 and 353(b) because it misbranded Zyban by dispensing a prescription that it knew to be invalid.  Therefore, we conclude that PBM is subject to discipline under § 338.055.2(15).  

c.  Professional Trust


The Board also cites § 338.055.2(13), which allows discipline for:

Violation of any professional trust or confidence[.]

Professional trust under § 338.050.2(13) is the reliance on the special knowledge and skills that professional licensure evidences.  Trieseler v. Helmbacher, 168 S.W.2d 1030, 1036 (Mo. 1943).  The Board did not show that anyone relied on PBM’s skills so as to give rise to professional trust, and we therefore conclude that PBM is not subject to discipline under § 338.050.2(13).  

Count II – Record Keeping


The Board cites § 338.055.2(6), which allows discipline for:

Violation of, or assisting or enabling any person to violate, any provision of this chapter, or of any lawful rule or regulation adopted pursuant to this chapter[.]

The Board argues that PBM violated § 338.100.1, which provides:


Every permit holder of a licensed pharmacy shall cause to be kept in a uniform fashion consistent with this section a suitable 

file in which shall be preserved, for a period of not less than five years, the original or order of each drug which has been compounded or dispensed at such pharmacy, according to and in compliance with standards provided by the board, and shall produce the same in court or before any grand jury whenever lawfully required.  A licensed pharmacy may maintain its prescription file on readable microfilm for records maintained over three years.  After September, 1999, a licensed pharmacy may preserve prescription files on microfilm or by electronic media storage for records maintained over three years. . . .  The file of original prescriptions and other confidential records, as defined by law, shall at all times be open for inspection by board of pharmacy representatives.

(Emphasis added.)  PBM admitted that it did not retain the prescription in any form.  Therefore, we conclude that PBM is subject to discipline under § 338.055.2(6).  

Summary


PBM is subject to discipline under § 338.055.2(5), (6) and (15).  


SO ORDERED on February 6, 2004.



________________________________



KAREN A. WINN



Commissioner

�As used in this decision, the name Brown means the Board’s inspector acting under the assumed name of “William Brown.”  


	�Statutory references are to the 2000 Revised Statutes of Missouri unless otherwise noted.


�With certain exceptions not applicable here.


�That subdivision also allows discipline for fraud, misrepresentation or dishonesty.  Fraud is an intentional perversion of truth to induce another person to act in reliance upon it.  Hernandez v. State Bd. of Regis’n for Healing Arts, 936 S.W.2d 894, 899 n.2 (Mo. App., W.D. 1997).  Misrepresentation is a falsehood or untruth made with the intent of deceit rather than inadvertent mistake.  Id. at 899 n.3.  Dishonesty is a lack of integrity, a disposition to defraud or deceive.  MERRIAM-WEBSTER'S COLLEGIATE DICTIONARY 333 (10th ed. 1993).  The amended complaint alleges no facts supporting those causes for discipline.  
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